**RECEIVED**

**Oct 04 2024**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT  
Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III, Chief Judge

Case No. 2017-ALJ-1709418-CC  
Appellate Case No. 2020-000999

---

Opinion No. 6076 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed July 31, 2024)

---

Synovus Bank .....Petitioner,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue ..... Respondent.

---

**PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

Ashley P. Cuttino  
Lewis T. Smoak  
Ogletree, Deakins, Nash, Smoak & Stewart, P.C.  
300 North Main Street, Suite 500  
Greenville, South Carolina 29601  
(864) 271-1300  
ashley.cuttino@ogletree.com

## **INTRODUCTION**

Pursuant to Rule 242 of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, Petitioner Synovus Bank (“Petitioner” or “Synovus”) petitions the Court to issue a writ of certiorari to review the decision of the Court of Appeals styled *Synovus Bank, Appellant v. South Carolina Dep’t of Revenue, Respondent*, Op. No 6076 (July 31, 2024). For the reasons stated below, the petition should be granted, and the decision of the Court of Appeals should be reversed.

## **CERTIFICATION OF COUNSEL**

Counsel for Petitioner hereby certifies that a Petition for Rehearing was timely filed on August 28, 2024, and denied by the Court of Appeals on September 5, 2024.

## **QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that the Bank Tax does not allow a Net Operating Loss (“NOL”) Carryforward deduction?
  - A. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that Title 12 conformity with the Internal Revenue Code excludes the Bank Tax?
  - B. Did the Court of Appeals err by not considering the significance of the National Bank Act, 12 U.S.C. § 548, which allowed the use of NOL carryforwards in computing the Bank Tax base in order to avoid discrimination against banks as compared to other corporate taxpayers?
  - C. Did the Court of Appeals err in its holding that the Bank Tax does not allow an NOL carryforward because the Bank Tax is labeled as a franchise tax even though the Bank Tax is based on net income?
  
2. Did the Court of Appeals err by upholding the order the Administrative Law Court (“ALC”) allowing a third party to issue guidance on how the Bank Tax should be calculated, which is an unconstitutional delegation of the taxing authority and not ruling on the equal protection and due process violations raised by Synovus.
  - A. Did the Court of Appeals err by upholding a result created by the ALC order that violates due process and not addressing the constitutional violation?
  - B. Did the Court of Appeals err by upholding the ALC order creating an equal protection problem and not addressing the constitutional violation?

- C. If book income is the basis of the Bank Tax, did the Court of Appeals approve an unconstitutional delegation of powers to a third party for instruction on how the bank tax is calculated?
3. Did the Court of Appeals err in giving great deference to the DOR post-*Chevron*?
4. Did the Court of Appeals err in construing “entire net income” against the Taxpayer based on the standard for a tax deduction when the true issue on appeal involves the construction of an imposition statute which must be resolved in favor of the Taxpayer?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arises from Synovus’ challenge to the South Carolina Department of Revenue (“Department” of “DOR”) determination that a net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforward is not applicable to banks in South Carolina because the Bank Tax is based on “book income” (an accounting term of art), not taxable income. Motion Hr’g, Oct. 17, 2019, Tr. 131:22-132:5.

#### **1. Relevant Petitioner History**

On February 28, 1995, Synovus Financial Corp. acquired NBSC Corporation, the parent company of National Bank of South Carolina (NBSC). Pet’r. Mot. Summ. J. Ex. 1, Stip. ¶ 10; R. p. 416. Subsequently, on May 6, 2010, NBSC was merged into Columbus Bank & Trust Company and was renamed Synovus Bank. *Id.*, Stip. ¶ 6; R. p. 416. Each entity is (or was) organized as a corporation. *Id.*, Stip. ¶ 6. All operated as a bank in South Carolina during the relevant timeframe.

As a result of the economic downturn suffered by many banks during the years in question, Synovus’ allowable tax deductions exceeded its taxable income resulting in net operating losses. Synovus timely filed Bank Tax returns with the DOR for tax years 2011, 2012, and 2013. *Id.*, Stip. ¶ 13, R. p. 416. For each of those tax years, Synovus subsequently filed an amended tax return. *Id.*, Stip. ¶¶ 13-22; R. pp. 416-17. The amended returns included NOL carryforward deductions producing tax refund claims for 2011-2013. *Id.*, Stip. ¶¶ 18, 20, 23-25; R. pp. 417-18. Synovus also filed an original 2014 tax return that included its NOL carryforwards. *Id.*, Stip. ¶¶ 22, 25; R. p. 417-418.

For tax years 2012, 2013 and 2014, the DOR granted the refunds. *Id.*, Stip. ¶¶ 23-25; R. p. 418. Despite initially approving the refunds, the DOR made a subsequent decision to audit tax years 2012, 2013 and 2014. Following the audit, the DOR reversed its prior decision. During the audit, the DOR concluded NOL carryforwards are not allowed in computing a bank’s tax liability. *Id.*, Stip. ¶ 26; R. p. 418. Following the audit, the DOR issued a Determination rejecting Synovus’ refund claims. Synovus disagreed with the DOR’s Determination and timely requested a contested case hearing before the ALC. *Id.*, Stip. ¶ 27; R. p. 418. This appeal stems from the ALC’s Amended Final Order which was upheld by the Court of Appeals.

### **SUMMARY OF GROUNDS FOR CERTIORARI**

SCACR Rule 242 lists circumstances that weigh in favor of this Court issuing a writ of certiorari. Among the reasons listed in the Rule are “where there are novel questions of law” at issue. SCACR Rule 242 (b)(1). This case involves multiple questions of law.

First and foremost, the South Carolina Bank Tax was first passed in 1937. Since that time, there has not been a *single* court opinion interpreting the Bank Tax. Specifically, as applicable to this appeal, prior to this case: no court has ever opined on the meaning of the Bank Tax’s basis “entire net income”; no court has ever opined on how the Bank Tax should be calculated; no court has ever opined on the application of the 1926 National Bank Tax issued by Congress (allowing states to tax national banks) and its subsequent savings clause to the South Carolina Bank Tax; no court has opined on the impact of annual federal tax conformity to the Bank Tax; no court has opined if an Attorney General’s opinion has the authority to call the Bank Tax a “franchise tax” and if that nomenclature results in the use of “book income” instead of taxable income; no court has ever opined on the impact of the DOR’s reliance on a third party – Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) – and its guidance on how to calculate financial statements under

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”); and finally, no court has opined on the level of deference South Carolina Courts should give state agencies, like the DOR, post-*Chevron*. Seemingly, issues surrounding the Bank Tax and its basis of taxation have never arisen outside of agency review. As a result, the issues raised in this writ of certiorari are novel questions of law.

SCACR Rule 242(b)(3) should also be considered because the Court of Appeals’ ruling here is “in conflict with [] prior decision[s] of the Supreme Court” regarding long-standing statutory construction principles. The Court of Appeals disregarded unwavering precedent in this State that imposition statutes are interpreted in favor of the taxpayer and applied all statutory construction principles in favor of the DOR, including the very basic fact that since 1937 the Bank Tax has at all times been referred to by the Legislature and is titled as an “Income Tax on Banks.” Principles of statutory construction were also ignored in the lower court’s determination that conformity of Title 12 to the Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”) excludes the Bank Tax despite the clear application of conformity to “*all* taxes in this *Title*.”

SCACR Rule 242(b)(4) provides another applicable factor that weighs in favor of this Court issuing a writ of certiorari because “substantial constitutional issues are directly involved” in this case. The Court of Appeals ignored the constitutional issue created as a result of the ALC order. The ALC order adopted by the Court of Appeals did not properly define “entire net income” or give clear instruction to the taxpayer on how to calculate entire net income, creating both an equal protection and due process problem. Further the Court of Appeals’ adoption of the ALC order affirms the DOR reliance on a third party, the FASB, to provide guidance and rules for GAAP accounting to calculate its taxes. The adopted ALC order goes further, directing publicly traded companies to only apply a portion of GAAP (the income sheet) to determine its South Carolina Bank Tax, not all of GAAP (which currently requires an income sheet, balance statement,

statement of shareholder equity and the cash flow statement). Reliance on GAAP and the FASB for Bank Tax calculation rules is an unconstitutional delegation of the taxing authority, which sits solely in the hands of the Legislature. All the above involve “substantial constitutional issues,” justifying certiorari in this case.

In addition, though not explicitly identified as a factor in SCACR Rule 242, the Court of Appeals’ ruling has far-reaching implications beyond just the interpretation of the Bank Tax. As detailed further herein, there are serious potential non-tax consequences associated with the level of deference to a state agency applied in this matter – especially in a post-*Chevron* world. Further, this matter has direct impact on not just Synovus, but the entire banking industry in South Carolina. For these additional reasons, certiorari is warranted.

### **ARGUMENT**

This case required both the DOR and Courts to make multiple novel decisions related to the definition of the basis (“entire net income”) of the Bank Tax, the calculation methods used by banks in relation to the Bank Tax, and the non-application of IRC deductions for banks, but available to other businesses, post Title 12 IRC conformity. These are issues of key importance to the banking industry in South Carolina, not just Synovus. The core issue in this case is the very basis of the Bank Tax and how that basis should be calculated. These are questions never before raised in the 85+ year history of the Bank Tax.

The ALC and Court of Appeals gave undue deference to the DOR in their orders and ignored the legislative history of the Bank Tax, state corporate income tax and mandated application of the 1926 National Bank Tax savings clause that requires national banks be treated in a manner that is not discriminatory as compared to other businesses. Great deference was given to the DOR despite the ALC finding “the Department has no formal ruling or publication

interpreting the meaning or calculation of ‘entire net income.’” Am. Final Order at p. 15; R. p. 19. Further, the ALC order, which was affirmed by the Court of Appeals also raised (and in fact created) constitutional issues – not addressed by the Court of Appeals.

### **1. Brief History of the South Carolina Bank Tax**

The South Carolina General Assembly enacted South Carolina’s first general corporate income tax in 1926. The tax was based on a taxpayer’s “entire net income.” S.C. Code Ann. § 2451 (1932). Under the 1918 Revenue Act, the term “entire net income” included *all expenses and deductions* taken from year to year until “the *entire net income* ha[d] been accounted for.” See Am. Final Ord. at p. 28; R. p. 32 (quoting Revenue Act of 1918) (emphasis added).

Prior to 1926, states did not have the power to tax national banks. In 1926, Congress passed the National Bank Act, 12 U.S.C. § 548, as the federal law that exclusively governed states’ ability to tax national banks. Congress enacted the National Bank Tax to ensure non-discriminatory taxation of banks as compared to other businesses. The National Bank Act allowed *only* four mutually-exclusive methods for states to tax banks. Among the permitted forms of taxation was a tax based on or measured by “entire net income.” *Id.* The National Bank Act’s legislative history made clear that Congress intended that general businesses and banks must be similarly treated.

In 1937, the Legislature passed a tax specific to banks (the “Bank Tax”). At all times since its inception, the Bank Tax has been described by the Legislature as an “*income tax*” on banks. The basis upon which the bank tax was imposed in 1937 was identical to the then existing corporate income tax - “entire net income.” 1937 S.C. Acts § 563(2). The term “entire net income” in the Bank Tax has not changed since its inception. See S.C. Code §12-11-10 *et al.* Thus, the only way that a bank has ever determined the starting point of its liability under the bank tax is through application of the adopted provisions of the corporate income tax code, which long defined “net income” as “the gross income of a taxpayer less the deductions allowed by this [the corporate

income tax] chapter.” *See* 1932 S.C. § 2443; 1942 S.C. Code § 2443; S.C. Code Ann. § 65-255 (1962); S.C. Code Ann. § 12-7-600 (1976).

In 1948, an Attorney General opinion was issued that labeled the Bank Tax a “franchise tax.” *See* 1947-48 Op. S.L. Att’y Gen. 294 (March 12, 1948); R. p. 428. The opinion, which was not legally binding, gave no definition of “franchise tax” or the term “entire net income.”

In 1985, the Legislature formally conformed the State Tax Code to the IRC. Both the corporate income tax and Bank Tax statutes continued to use the term “entire net income” as the tax basis. The Legislature has passed tax conformity legislation every year since 1985. Conformity is accomplished through two statutes: one conforming the State’s Tax Code to the entire IRC and another decoupling certain aspects of state taxing authority from the IRC.

In 2005, the General Assembly again passed conforming legislation adopting the entire IRC. *See* S.C. Code § 12-6-40. In the same year, the General Assembly affirmatively modified the prior language of the Decoupling Statute clarifying any ambiguity as to the application of conformity to the Bank Tax and other tax sections. Post-2005, the decoupling language was altered and now states “For purposes of *this title* and *all other titles that provide for taxes administered by the department*, except as otherwise specifically provided, . . . .” The legislature did not ignore banks in the decoupling statute. Certain IRC sections related to banks are specifically decoupled. The Bank Tax, however, is not an enumerated section decoupled from the IRC. *See* S.C. Code § 12-6-50 (emphasis added). This “Title” is, of course, Title 12, which contains the Bank Tax and the Bank Tax is administered by the DOR.

The Bank Tax today is virtually identical to the original Bank Tax passed in 1937. The entire Bank Tax contains only 6 sections and 523 words. In taxing “entire net income” of banks, neither the 1937 Bank Tax nor any subsequent Bank Tax section or regulation has ever defined

“entire net income” for banks. Further, in taxing “entire net income” of a bank, the ALC factually found “the Department has no formal ruling or publication interpreting the meaning or calculation of ‘entire net income’” in regards to the Bank Tax. Am. Final Order at p. 26; R. p. 30.

## **2. Definition of Net Operating Loss Carryforward**

The Court of Appeals defined a Net Operating Loss Carryforward as follows:

In tax accounting, applying a net operating loss to a later tax year is called a "carryforward." The applicable section of the Internal Revenue Code provides:

The entire amount of the net operating loss for any taxable year . . . shall be carried to the earliest of the taxable years to which . . . such loss may be carried. The portion of such loss which shall be carried to each of the other taxable years shall be the excess, if any, of the amount of such loss over the sum of the taxable income for each of the prior taxable years to which such loss may be carried.

*Synovus Bank v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, No. 2020-000999, Slip. Op. at 3 (S.C. Ct. App. July 31, 2024) (citing 26 U.S.C.A. § 172(b)(2) (West)).

## **3. History of the Modern Net Operating Loss in South Carolina**

In 1955, South Carolina amended the income tax code allowing a deduction for taxpayers that “established a new business or industry” in the state. *See* 1955 (49) 437, § 6 (adding S.C. Code § 65-259(13)). In 1979, the Legislature amended the NOL deduction to include “*all* taxpayers.” *See* 1976 S.C. Code Ann. § 12-7-700(12A) (Supp. 1979). In 1985, the General Assembly repealed the standalone South Carolina NOL section when it adopted conformity to the federal tax code, instead relying on IRC § 172 for the allowance of an NOL carryforward.

## **4. Did the Court of Appeals Err in Holding that the Bank Tax Does Not Allow a NOL Carryforward Deduction?**

A. Did the Court of Appeals Err in Holding that Title 12 Conformity with the Internal Revenue Code Excludes the Bank Tax?

To the extent there was historical confusion over the tax basis for the Bank Tax, that issue was rectified by the Legislature through modern conformity with the IRC. Every year since 1985,

the Legislature has adopted the entire IRC in a conformity statute; every year it then excludes specific IRC sections in a Decoupling Statute. Following the 1985 IRC conformity, in 1988, the Legislature took affirmative action to repeal all taxing regulations impacted by conformity, including the Bank Tax regulations. S.C. Tax Comm'n Letter 88-14, at 1-3 (June 10, 1988); R. pp. 437-39. The Court of Appeals erred in its determination that “from the time the General Assembly began conforming the state income tax code with the federal tax code, it was evident conformity did not apply to banks for bank tax purposes.” *Synovus Bank*, No. 2020-000999, Slip. Op. at 11. If conformity did not apply to the Bank Tax, there would have been no reason for the Legislature to take the affirmative action of repealing its own regulations. How else would a bank taxpayer know how to calculate “entire net income?” See S.C. Code Ann. § 12-11-40.

To the extent any ambiguity remained, in typical fashion, the 2005 General Assembly's Conformity Act adopted the entire IRC except for certain IRC provisions specified in the Decoupling Statute. In 2005, the General Assembly significantly changed the language of the prior Decoupling Statute to make clear it included and applied to *all of Title 12*:

SECTION 12-6-50. Internal Revenue Code sections specifically not adopted by State.

*For purposes of this title and all other titles that provide for taxes administered by the department, except as otherwise specifically provided, the following Internal Revenue Code Sections are specifically not adopted by this State: . . . .*

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-50 (emphasis added).

This exact language has been repeatedly included in the Decoupling Statute each year since 2005. The Bank Tax is *not* listed in the enumerated sections that have been decoupled from the IRC each year since 1985 (or 2005). That does not mean the Legislature ignores banks during annual conformity. In fact, certain sections of the IRC that apply to banks *are* decoupled. See S.C.

Code Ann. § 12-6-50 (9) (“Sections 581, 582, and 585 through 596 relating to certain aspects of taxation of banking institutions” are decoupled).<sup>1</sup> The change in language in 2005 only underscored conformity’s application to *all of Title 12* and all other “*taxes administered by the Department,*” (emphasis added) including the Bank Tax found in Title 12, Chapter 11.<sup>2</sup>

When Title 12 and its relevant Chapters are reviewed in their entirety, the intent of the Legislature is clear – banks are (and have always been) subject to conformity. Bank Tax conformity is also consistent with the overall tax scheme found in Title 12, state taxing history and prior DOR determinations.<sup>3</sup>

The canon of construction “*expressio unius est exclusio alterius*” or “*inclusio unius est exclusio alterius*” holds that “to express or include one thing implies the exclusion of another, or of the alternative.”

BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY 602 (7th ed. 1999).

If the Legislature did not intend for modern conformity to apply to the Bank Tax, it would have made clear that the IRC does not apply to the banks by having the 2005 enactment of Section 12-6-50 state: “For purposes of this Title, except for the bank tax in Chapter 11” or list the Bank Tax in one of the excluded enumerated sections of the Decoupling Statute. It did not do so. Instead,

---

<sup>1</sup> See also S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-50(20) (In 2018, the Legislature began decoupling FDIC premiums. If conformity did not apply to banks, decoupling of FDIC premiums would not be required.).

<sup>2</sup> Section 12-6-50 has been amended many times. The language “taxes administered by the department” has remained consistent.

<sup>3</sup> SC PLR 95-10 (Aug. 28, 1995) (ruling that “the principles embodied in the Internal Revenue Code sections ... which apply to corporations taxed under Chapter 7, Title 12 of the Code should apply to transactions involving banks taxed under Chapter 11, Title 12 of the South Carolina Code of Laws.”); see also I-D-30 (Aug. 1, 1962); I-D-200 (Aug. 4, 1975) (same); I-D-189 (Jan. 24, 1975) (applying the income tax code for overall method of cash/accrual accounting for purposes of the bank tax); I-D-118 (Feb. 28, 1967) (ruling that for purposes of the South Carolina bank tax, bad debt is deducted in the same manner as for purposes of the corporate income tax); I-D-30 (Aug. 1, 1962) (same).

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