RECEIVED

Nov 18 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 2017-ALJ-17-0418-CC
Appellate Case No. 2020-000999

Opinion No. 6076 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed July 31, 2024)

Synovus BankPetitioner,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue,Respondent.

**SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE’S RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

Jason P. Luther (Bar No. 78021)
300A Outlet Pointe Boulevard
Columbia, SC 29210
Phone: 803-898-5785
Fax: 803-896-0171
Jason.Luther@dor.sc.gov
CourtOrders@dor.sc.gov

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

Regardless, Synovus’ National Bank Act argument is just a rebranded version of its conformity argument. According to Synovus, the National Bank Act authorized states to tax national banks so long as the taxation did not discriminate against national banks compared to other businesses. *See*

¹ The Petition suggests that if the General Assembly had not intended for conformity to apply to the bank tax, it would have “list[ed] the Bank Tax in one of the excluded enumerated sections of the Decoupling Statute.” *See* Petition at 9–10. That flips the purpose of the Decoupling Statute on its head. By its clear terms, the Decoupling Statute is intended to identify the sections of the IRC that South Carolina is not adopting; not to identify each of the many chapters of Title 12 that are not impacted by conformity.

² The Act traces its roots as far back as 1864; Congress authorized states to tax national banks in limited ways prior to 1926, but it was the 1926 amendments that included all four of the permitted tax methods that Synovus references in its Petition. *See* Petition at 11; STATE TAXES AND THE NATIONAL BANKS, 41 Yale L.J. 609, n.2 (1932).

Petition at 11. Synovus makes the unsubstantiated conclusory declaration that it is “inherently discriminatory” to allow corporations—but not banks—to claim an NOL deduction. And it urges this Court to cure the alleged “discrimination” by construing Chapter 11 to permit an NOL deduction through “rolling conformity” with Chapter 6. *See* Petition 11–15.³

This overstates the reach of the National Bank Act. The Act approved certain methods for states to tax banks, and the purpose was to ensure that states did not create unfair competition for national banks “by favoring institutions or individuals carrying on a similar business and operations and investments of a like character.” *Mercantile Nat. Bank v. City of New York*, 121 U.S. 138, 155, 7 S. Ct. 826, 835 (1887); *First Agr. Nat. Bank of Berkshire Cnty. v. State Tax Comm’n*, 392 U.S. 339, 343, 88 S. Ct. 2173, 2176 (1968). South Carolina’s bank tax complied with the purpose and requirements.⁴

The National Bank Act did not require states to tax banks exactly like other businesses. The tax rate for banks could not be higher than for other businesses, but that is a far cry from requiring states to treat national banks just like other corporations in all other aspects of taxation, including granting them the same deductions. *See, e.g., First Nat. Bank v. Louisiana Tax Comm’n*, 143 So. 23, 29 (1932), *aff’d by* 289 U.S. 60, 53 S. Ct. 511 (1933) (upholding state statute that provided one method for taxing all banks—state and federal—in the state while providing another method for taxation of corporations other than those engaged in the banking business); *see also Mercantile Nat. Bank*, 121 U.S. 138 at 155, 7 S. Ct. at 835 (finding the National Bank Act was “indifferent” as to how or whether states choose to tax non-financial corporations).

³ Synovus refers to this new theory of “rolling conformity” no fewer than 5 times throughout the Petition—despite having never used the term “rolling conformity” in any of its prior filings with the ALC and Court of Appeals. *See* Petition at 13, 15–16, 24.

⁴ As Synovus notes, the National Bank Act permitted a franchise tax measured by the bank’s “entire net income received from all sources.” *First Agr. Nat. Bank*, 392 U.S. at 343, 88 S. Ct. at 2176. The bank tax applies to all banks (both state and national); it is a franchise tax measured by the bank’s entire net income; and its tax rate of 4.5% is lower than the 5% rate for other corporations. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-11-10 to -30; S.C. Code Regs. 117-1500.

But notice that Synovus buried the lede. Four pages into its discussion of the National Bank Act, Synovus acknowledges that since 1969 the National Bank Act “only prohibit[s] a national bank from being treated differently than a state bank.” *See* Petition at 14; 12 U.S.C. § 548. In other words, even if granting NOL deductions to corporations but not banks violated the National Bank Act at one time, Synovus is asking this Court now to judicially create a state tax NOL deduction for banks to ensure the General Assembly has not offended an alleged prohibition in the National Bank Act that was removed by Congress 55 years ago. *See* Petition at 14–15.

II. The Court of Appeals correctly held it is not unconstitutional to measure Synovus’ entire net income based on its book income as computed in accordance with its ordinary method of accounting.

Synovus asks this court to grant certiorari because of three alleged constitutional problems with the Court of Appeals’ holding. Two of those concerns—due process and equal protection—were not properly preserved for the Court of Appeal’s review; the third was correctly rejected by the ALC and the Court of Appeals. All three complaints are unsupported by record evidence, they are merely unsubstantiated arguments by Synovus’ counsel in briefs. These complaints are also inconsistent with the record testimony and Synovus’ own prior conduct.

A. It is not an unconstitutional delegation of the State’s taxing authority to compute the entire net income of a bank using its book income.

The ALC and Court of Appeals correctly agreed here is no unconstitutional delegation of the State’s taxing authority if book income is the appropriate tax base for calculating a bank’s entire net income. Synovus claims these holdings create “significant problems,” *see* Petition at 17–19, but this is an imaginary bogeyman that ignores the history of income taxes and the undisputed expert testimony.

Every tax on income, by definition, must begin with some measure of a taxpayer’s income. This starting point for the tax base is usually the taxpayer’s net income, as determined in keeping its books. That was the method under the 1926 Act, which required a taxpayer to compute its net income “in accordance with the method of accounting regularly employed in keeping the books of such

taxpayer.” See 1927 S.C. Act No. 1, § 9. (R. p. 850). The computation of federal taxable income under the IRC also starts with the net income from the books (income statements) of a company, which can be determined using several different accounting standards. (R. pp. 240, 332–33, 2395–96). And because the South Carolina corporate income tax begins with federal taxable income, it too relies indirectly on book income for the tax base. (R. p. 328). Thus, it is completely inconsistent for Synovus to argue that the bank tax must be computed under the income tax provisions of Chapter 6, which ultimately begins (in Synovus’ case) with GAAP-based book income, while simultaneously arguing that any tax that relies on book income computed by GAAP is unconstitutional.⁵

Synovus’ reliance on *E. Fed. Corp. v. Wasson*, 281 S.C. 450, 316 S.E.2d 373 (1984) is misplaced. The primary concern in *Wasson* was that the “statute impose[d] no guidelines for rating of films,” so the determination of whether the movie was taxable ultimately rested “solely [in] the discretion of the MPAA.” *Id.* at 452, 316 S.E.2d at 374. There is a fundamental difference between delegating authority to determine whether a movie is taxable in the first instance (as in *Wasson*) versus relying on a universally recognized accounting concept (net income) as the starting point for determining the tax base of a tax that is measured by net income. But see *Cent. Power & Light Co. v. Sharp*, 919 S.W.2d 485 (Tex. App. 1996) (rejecting claim that it was an unconstitutional delegation of legislative authority to compute the tax base of a franchise tax based on the “generally accepted accounting principles” as set forth by FASB).

Synovus also misconstrues the Department’s position and Opinion to require the bank tax to be computed using GAAP. The Department has never mandated that a bank must use GAAP to compute its entire net income. Instead, what the ALC concluded, and the Court of Appeals affirmed,

⁵ GAAP is an accrual-based accounting method and the primary accounting method by which companies keep their books. (R. pp. 181–83). The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) publishes the accounting standards known as GAAP. GAAP is mandatory for publicly traded companies and the method used by South Carolina banks. (R. pp. 213, 243–44). Synovus prepares its financial statements in accordance with GAAP.

is that a bank's book income is the proper method for computing the bank tax base. Experts for both parties confirmed that "book income" is the colloquial shorthand for net income, a canonical financial accounting term. (R. pp. 236–38, 240–41). The two primary financial accounting methods are cash-basis and accrual-basis, but either method will ultimately generate an income statement that reports the company's net income. (R. pp. 154, 186–87, 189, 204, 214, 219, 236–37). This is precisely why Regulation 117-1500.2 requires banks to compute their net income on either a cash or accrual basis. The Court of Appeals and ALC decisions do not require banks to use a particular accounting method. Rather, they simply confirm that a bank's entire net income is measured by its book income as computed under its usual accounting method, and they recognized the reality that for banks this will often (though not always) be computed in accordance with GAAP.

Finally, the Court of Appeals has not "eliminated the deferred tax asset allowable under GAAP." *See* Petition at 19. Publicly traded banks are required under federal law to prepare their financial statements in accordance with GAAP, in part because investors rely on these statements to inform them about the financial health of the company. (R. pp. 8, 41). GAAP requires entities to report any applicable NOL deduction as a "deferred tax asset" because it reflects an expected reduction of future taxes payable in the tax jurisdiction where the deduction is permitted. (R. pp. 193–94, 210, 214–15, 223). Thus GAAP, properly understood, provides guidance on how a bank should account for a pre-existing tax benefit that arises by operation of the tax laws of the relevant taxing jurisdiction. It does not independently create a tax benefit (like an NOL deduction) where one does not already exist. (R. pp. 9, 11). The record is replete with expert testimony that, under GAAP, an entity does not report a deferred tax asset based on an NOL deduction unless the taxing jurisdiction authorizes that specific tax deduction. (R. pp. 2094, 2097, 2098).

Thus, as Synovus well knows, the Court of Appeals did not eliminate the deferred tax asset under GAAP. It merely clarified that there is no deferred tax asset to be reported for an NOL

deduction insofar as it relates to South Carolina’s bank tax liability. As the Court of Appeals specifically noted, Synovus can indicate on its balance sheet that there is no NOL deduction to recognize in South Carolina, which is precisely what Synovus’ expert opined should happen. (R. p. 224).⁶

B. There is no due process violation.

Synovus urges this Court to grant certiorari because it believes the definition of “entire net income” is ambiguous and therefore violates due process. Synovus never raised a due process challenge until its Motion to Reconsider, so this issue is not preserved for appellate review. *Kiamah Prop. Owners Grp. v. Pub. Serv. Comm’n of S.C.*, 359 S.C. 105, 113, 597 S.E.2d 145, 149 (2004).

Regardless, Synovus due process challenge suffers from a legal and evidentiary defect. A statute is not void for vagueness in a way that offends due process just because it contains undefined (or even ambiguous) terms. This would be an impossible standard because virtually every statute has words that are not defined. *See State v. McClain*, 880 S.E.2d 889, 895 (W.Va. 2022) (“Not every ambiguity, uncertainty or imprecision of language in a statutory pattern rises to the level of being unconstitutionally void for vagueness.”); *see also State v. Thongsavanb*, 915 A.2d 421, 430 (Me. 2007) (same). “[T]he fact that people can, in good faith, litigate the meaning of a statute does not necessarily (or even usually) mean that the statute is so indefinite as to be unconstitutional.” *Dep’t of Revenue v. Nabors Int’l Fin., Inc.*, 514 P.3d 893, 899 (Alaska 2022).

Instead, a law is unconstitutionally vague only if it forbids or requires an act that cannot be ascertained by the common understanding and knowledge of the person or group affected by the

⁶ Synovus complains the Court of Appeals’ decision “makes no common sense” when it looks to the income statement to determine entire net income because GAAP requires the use of four different financial statements. *See* Petition at 19. This obfuscates the real issue. GAAP requires entities to use all four of these financial statements, but each one serves a unique purpose. The uniform testimony from both GAAP experts is that the income statement—not the balance sheet—is the part of the financial statements that shows a company’s net income (i.e. all revenues less expenses) for that specific reporting period. (R. p. 200, 236, 333–34). Even the Petition acknowledges that “net income is determined in the income statement.” *See* Petition at 19.

law. *S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Michelle G.*, 407 S.C. 499, 506, 757 S.E.2d 388, 392 (2014); *Huber v. S.C. State Bd. of Physical Therapy Examiners*, 316 S.C. 24, 26–27, 446 S.E.2d 433, 435 (1994).⁷ A statute satisfies due process if the terms can be interpreted in “common usage and understanding” or “can be given meaning by reference to other definable sources.” *S.C. Hum. Affs. Comm'n v. Zeyi Chen*, 430 S.C. 509, 530, 846 S.E.2d 861, 871 (2020).

Synovus knew that its bank tax would be computed based on book income, and it is clear how book income is determined. The Court of Appeals chronicled the “common understanding and knowledge” regarding the bank tax, including of the banking industry and tax professionals who are affected by the law. (R. pp. 144, 171–72, 240–41, 243–48, 333–34). (R. p. 573). The General Assembly was aware of this practice, and Synovus filed its tax returns using book income as the starting point for computing its own tax liability. (R. p. 573).

Synovus accuses the Department of a “failure to act for the 85+ year history of the Bank Tax” by failing to issue regulations about how to compute the tax base. *See* Petition at 20. This is a bizarre claim in light of the Department’s promulgation of the bank tax Regulations (consistent with prior guidance), which have instructed taxpayers for over 50 years that the bank tax is computed in accordance with a bank’s accounting methods—cash or accrual basis. *See* S.C. Code Regulation 117-1500; (R. pp. 2066, 2069). It also ignores the numerous other formal and informal guidance discussed above. (R. pp. 448, 578, 2061–63).

Synovus’ claim that banks still have no idea how to compute the bank tax in light of the Court of Appeals’ decision is attenuated in light of the record. Every witness understood what net income and book income mean, and how it is determined. (R. p. 156, 213–14, 233–34, 240–41). Accountants

⁷ “The void-for-vagueness doctrine is primarily a criminal doctrine.” *S.C. Hum. Affs. Comm'n v. Zeyi Chen*, 430 S.C. 509, 529, 846 S.E.2d 861, 871 (2020). Synovus bears the burden to overcome the presumption of constitutionality. *S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Michelle G.*, 407 S.C. 499, 757 S.E.2d 388 (2014) (“[A] legislative act will not be declared unconstitutional unless its repugnance to the Constitution is clear and beyond a reasonable doubt.”).

have an easy rule-of-thumb for computing the South Carolina bank tax liability: multiply the bank's book income by the tax rate of 4.5%. (R. p. 247–48). During the audit period, Synovus' financial statements and other federally required reports routinely identified its “net income,” which was effectively identical to the net income it listed on its tax returns. (R. pp. 242–43, 1786, 2242, 2251, 2286, 2288, 2323, 2325). Synovus has always reported its company-wide book income (i.e. net income) on both its federal and state tax returns. (R. pp. 959–1022, 1248–336, 1545–604). Synovus and the banking industry know what book income is, and how to compute it.

C. There is no equal protection violation.

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